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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X
DETERMINATION BY THE DEPUTY PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicant
	:
	Mr J R Lawton

	Scheme
	:
	Lawton Trust M W Self-Directed Personal Pension Scheme (SIPP)

	Respondent
	:
	Mattioli Woods 


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION (dated)

1. Mr Lawton complains that Mattioli Woods (MW), in their capacity as both trustee and administrator of his SIPP, allegedly failed to advise him that, by deferring his retirement until after 6 April 2006, he may have been entitled to a higher tax free cash lump sum which would have been a significant factor in his decision to retire.   

2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both. I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them. This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of fact or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

MATERIAL FACTS
3. Mr Lawton’s date of birth is 28 December 1944.  

4. His SIPP was established under trust on 14 December 2000 with Suffolk Life Annuities Limited as the provider. The SIPP administration was delegated to M W Trustees Limited (MWTL) through Mattioli Woods Pension Consultants (MWPC). The appointed SIPP trustees were MWTL and Mr Lawton.    

5. Mr Lawton’s services and fee agreement for his SIPP set out the main terms and conditions for MWTL, MWPC and Professional Independent Pension Trustees Limited (PIPTL) to act as trustee and adviser for all the services defined in the agreement.

6. Mr Lawton received a member’s booklet showing that he would be entitled to a tax free cash sum of 25% of his SIPP fund on retirement, which may have to be restricted if he had transferred in benefits from other occupational pension schemes.

7. Mr Lawton’s SIPP received a transfer value of around £326,000 from his Equitable Life personal pension plan in December 2000. MWTL confirmed to Mr Lawton that this transfer value included a certified tax free cash element of approximately £38,000. The transfer value was invested with Scottish Mutual.

8. In their letter dated 30 January 2001, MW summarised the main issues discussed with Mr Lawton during their first meeting  and also wrote that:

“I would also firmly agree with your inclination to draw benefits sooner rather than later – this will allow your own personal assets to grow much faster than would otherwise have been the case and minimise the amount of funds locked into pension in later life.

Against this background, we will prepare a specific proposal for the provision of maximum tax-free cash and maximum pensions from April from the current funds. As we discussed, this will also be based on minimising investment risk as far as possible.” 

MW prepared this proposal in February 2001 and sent it to Mr Lawton.   

9. On 1 February 2002, Mr Lawton informed MW that the future business prospects for his company were uncertain and also that:

“Given the financial benefits of establishing and accessing my SIPP sooner rather than later, and to simultaneously minimise our respective higher rate income tax liabilities in 2002 and beyond, we anticipate shortly revising the share holding interests (in the company) of (my wife) and myself for the purpose of future dividend distributions.

Consequently I would ideally like to be in a position to be able to access my tax-free cash and draw my pension income at any time with effect from 6th April 2002.

I only seek your honest expert assistance to secure the best possible balanced performance from my SIPP at reasonable cost, which will enable me to extract maximum net value from my funds.”    

Mr Lawton subsequently informed MW, in a letter dated 21 February 2002, that his decision as to when to take his tax free cash and receive his pension was not a “financial imperative” and the precise timing of his decision to proceed would ultimately be subject to their best advice.

10. After a meeting on 19 April 2002, MW promised Mr Lawton that they would write to him about how and when he should actively seek to secure the best possible benefits from his SIPP. But it was not until 28 May 2002, due to an administrative error on their part, that MW informed him that they agreed it would be preferable for him to draw his benefits sooner rather than later, because deferring retirement in order to gain tax exemption in current investment markets was of debatable value and would reduce the number of years his benefits would be paid. It was also their opinion that he should draw the maximum tax free cash at the outset because it would then be available to him for investment with greater flexibility and, if reinvested reasonably tax efficiently, the income earning capability would be comparable with leaving it in the SIPP.   

11. Following another meeting with Mr Lawton, MW sent him an e-mail on 1 August 2002, informing him that they now understood his key objectives were peace of mind, flexibility, and financial protection for his wife. They proposed that he should consider adopting SIPP income withdrawal (SIPP drawdown) rather than annuity purchase. Mr Lawton confirmed later to MW that their assessment of his overall objectives was reasonably accurate. 

12. On 17 January 2003, MW sent Mr Lawton a letter detailing the salient features of the Pensions Green Paper, published on 17 December 2002, entitled “Simplifying the Taxation of Pensions: Increasing Choice and Flexibility for All (2002)”. (Relevant paragraphs from this document are reproduced in the Appendix below). This letter did not mention the new rules regarding the maximum tax free cash available but included a proviso that it only provided the briefest of details of the proposed changes.     

13. With a letter of 31 March 2003, MW sent to Mr Lawton copies of his SIPP valuation statement, which should have been sent in December 2002, together with a current one.  

14. In their letter of 3 September 2003 to Mr Lawton, MW provided further information about the Pensions Green Paper as follows:  

“The next big issue…..will be the pensions Green Paper, which is currently at consultation stage. Whilst there will be major changes within the industry, we welcome the simplification proposals for the future of pension schemes. We believe that one of the major advantages……will be the fact that we should be able to minimise the ancillary costs that have developed over the last few years due to the increasing amount of red tape and legislation required to ensure continued pension scheme approval. We also hope to see an end of the compulsory purchase of annuities after age 75.”    

15. In his letters dated 15 September and 1 October 2003 to MW, Mr Lawton asked for advice on the potential benefits and any adverse impact of the significant changes in pensions legislation which were already in the pipeline and likely to come into force either by the end of 2004 or 5 April 2005. MW responded in an e-mail on 28 October 2003 that it was very difficult to consider objectively the likely outcomes of the Green Paper except that, if the proposals in it were accepted, it was almost certain to provide a number of easements, which would be welcomed and it would be more appropriate for them to provide him with their advice in late spring/early summer of 2004 when some of these issues may have crystallised.
16. In his e-mail dated 20 November 2003, Mr Lawton sought another meeting with MW as soon as possible in light of their comments and also because of the “increasing urgency” of his desire to access his SIPP fund. This meeting took place on 4 December 2003, during which Mr Lawton conveyed to MW the state of his financial affairs, personal aspirations and concerns. He specifically prepared a list of topics for discussion during the meeting, one of which was “The implications of imminent pensions legislation and consequent evolution”.

17. On 9 December 2003, Mr Lawton informed MW by e-mail that, in his view, there had been occasions when their administration of his SIPP had been unsatisfactory which undermined his confidence in their capacity to consistently satisfy his straightforward requirements. 
18. MW sent Mr Lawton a general letter, dated 18 December 2003, informing him that the Government had published a document entitled “Simplifying the Taxation of Pensions: The Government’s Proposals (2003)”. (Relevant paragraphs have been reproduced in the Appendix below) making amendments to its original Green Paper. They also wrote that:

“As examples of the fundamental and wide-ranging nature of these proposals, not only have the Government agreed that the purchase of an annuity age 75 should be optional rather than compulsory, but have also accepted that schemes should be permitted to invest in residential property.

Whilst it is by no means certain yet as to whether these proposals will be enacted……subject to consensus being achieved over some of the detail, it would be included in his (the Chancellor’s) 2004 Budget with a view to putting this legislation on the Statute Books by April 2005.

In view of the much greater planning opportunities that this legislation will afford, I believe it would be very useful to discuss specifically how this may impact on your own pension planning. We will therefore be in touch after the Easter break, by which time it should be clear whether the legislation is proceeding or not.

Naturally, if there are any more developments between now and the Budget we will write to you again.”

19. In an e-mail dated 23 January 2004 to MW, Mr Lawton informed them that he hoped to be able to accurately assess his prospective 2003/4 tax liability before receiving
any pension income and, providing that the results of the various assessments in progress were favourable, he was currently edging towards going into SIPP drawdown in March or April 2004. He added in a subsequent e-mail to MW that it should be possible to determine any residual basic rate tax headroom against which he could make any pension withdrawals once his accountants had finalised his accounts around the end of March 2004.

20. Mr Lawton met with MW on 25 March 2004, and the subject of “The         implications of imminent pension legislation and consequent evolution” was discussed again. MW sent Mr Lawton a letter on 29 March 2004 summarising the main points of the meeting. The letter stated that Mr Lawton would like to draw benefits immediately and MW would be sending him details of his maximum tax free cash and the maximum and minimum single life pension options under SIPP drawdown. It was their opinion that, from what he had told them, it would not make any material difference whether the pension commenced before or after 5 April and suggested that his benefits commence at the start of the new tax year.

21. MW also wrote that the pensions simplification legislation would not now be enacted until April 2006 and they did not think that there were any particular issues that would be of practical relevance to him. They informed him that the three most significant changes were (i) the abolition of the compulsion to purchase an annuity at age 75, (ii) relaxation of permitted investments, including residential property both home and abroad, (iii) a “light touch” compliance regime that would hopefully reduce compliance related administration. 

22. In his e-mail dated 4 April 2004, Mr Lawton informed MW that he intended to deposit £300,000 of his SIPP fund with Yorkshire Guernsey and take his tax free cash and pension for 2004/5 from the residue of circa £70,000.  

23. In a general letter dated 5 April 2004, MW reiterated that the Government’s pension simplification legislation was to proceed but had been put back to April 2006. They said that one of the key changes introduced by the legislation was:

“Tax free cash

The Government remains committed to the principle of tax free cash, and which under the new regime will simply be calculated as 25% of the fund value.”   

24. On 14 April 2004, Mr Lawton sent MW an e-mail relating to the steps to be taken to effect the transfer of his fund to a new provider. Amongst other things he said:

“Tax Free Cash

Given my forthcoming two week holiday absence from 22/4 to 6/5, this money also could be transferred electronically, or sent by BACS directly into one of my bank accounts, the details of which we need to discuss and agree next week.     

Pension Payment Amounts and Frequency

I am aware of and understand my range of options, and due to prevailing financial uncertainties outside of my control, I am currently unable to finally decide on the details of how I wish to proceed. Assuming there is no urgency for me to do so, or need for me to supply such information to you at this point in time, I would prefer to reflect on the matter and make up my mind in the next month or so. Please inform me if my assumptions are either incorrect, or in any way potentially detrimental to my financial health.”      

25. On 20 April 2004, Mr Lawton informed MW that his Yorkshire Guernsey account had been successfully opened and he would prepare a suitable letter of authority enabling  MW to arrange payment of tax free cash from his SIPP. He prepared a form of authority dated 21 April 2004 showing that he wished to withdraw £41,685.20 as tax free cash but the amount and frequency of his pension payments were unspecified. It was not until 11 March 2005, however, that Mr Lawton  provided MW with this information (c.f. paragraph 69 for the reason to why).   

26. Mr Lawton’s tax free cash was paid directly into his bank account on 22 April 2004.    

27. In response to Mr Lawton’s subsequent query as to whether he could repay the tax free cash  in order to defer receipt of benefits until April 2006 and receive the higher tax free cash lump sum of 25% of his SIPP fund, MW informed him in an e-mail dated 5 November 2004 that this was not possible.

28. On 23 November 2004, MW wrote to Mr Lawton as follows:

“It looks as if we have one of those horrible misunderstanding situations: I thought you were well aware of the uplift to 25%, and that previously you were contemplating deferring the pension until as long as possible.

Again our understanding was that, as a consequence of things changing, you wanted to bring the drawdown of benefits forward, which we understood was a matter of urgency.

We have sent two circulars* to clients over the last two years ………both of which included reference to the 25% tax free cash facility.”   
*During the course of my investigation, MW has informed me that the tax free cash position was only confirmed once in writing to Mr Lawton, in the general letter sent on 5 April 2004 (c.f. paragraph 23 for more details).  
29. Mr Lawton was dissatisfied with their response and asked for his case to be considered under their internal complaints handling procedure.

30. His complaint was not upheld and he subsequently complained to this Office, after seeking assistance from the Pensions Advisory Service.

Mr Lawton’s Submissions

31. Mr Lawton says that MW has placed too much emphasis on his apparent desire to access his tax free lump sum. In early 2002, he emphasised to MW that the way in which he took his retirement benefits, and the timing, would be based on MW’s advice. MW has misused his e-mail dated 20 November 2003 by quoting his reference to “increasing urgency” out of context and ignoring the crucial points described in paragraph 32.

32. From the outset, MW have consistently promoted the benefits of SIPP drawdown activation “sooner rather than later” to him and, significantly, recommended that he take the maximum tax free cash available despite the fact that he had informed them that his financial position was sound, and of the importance of seeking their best advice “to do the most appropriate thing at the most appropriate time” to optimise his pension benefits and tax efficiency.

33. The suggestion that he wanted to bring the drawdown of his benefits forward as a matter of urgency is incorrect. He had arranged the meeting with MW at their office on 4 December 2003 because it was increasingly urgent for him to accurately evaluate his financial options before the end of the 2003/04 tax year. In order for him to make the most appropriate decision, he required full information about all relevant matters including prospective pension legislation. MW did not notify him of the potential opportunity to significantly increase his certified tax free cash during this meeting. Nothing significant or of potential benefit to him was mentioned and he agreed to reconvene to review his position again in March 2004. 
34. Prior to making his decision to draw his SIPP benefits in March 2004, he had repeatedly asked MW to notify him of any potential benefits or adverse consequences of the proposed significant changes in pension legislation. Despite his clear interest in optimising his tax free cash, MW made no verbal or written reference to the prospective significant increased tax free cash opportunity until after he had already made his decision. In particular, he believes that the crucial personal information and factual advice which he sought and MW provided during the meeting on 25 March 2004 was indisputably incomplete, inaccurate and clearly misleading. He says that MW had categorically assured him during this meeting, and confirmed in their letter of 29 March 2004, that there were no particular issues of practical relevance to him and no financially compelling reason for him to defer his activation decision until after 5 April 2006. He had therefore reasonably concluded that his previously certified tax free cash entitlement was unaffected and it seemed prudent for him to draw his SIPP benefits.     

35. MW have not offered any proof that, up to the time that he decided to enter into SIPP drawdown, they either proactively or when requested to do so, appropriately informed him of the proposed increased tax free cash opportunity of which they had full detailed knowledge.  If MW had verbally mentioned the proposed new tax free cash rules during their various meetings prior to him making his decision to draw his SIPP benefits, he asserts that he would be able to recall when and where this took place.  
36. The “comprehensive truthful and factual” evidence which he has submitted has not been contested or contradicted in any way by MW. In contrast, MW’s evidence has been scant, inconsistent and materially changed following the investigation by the Pensions Ombudsman.

37. Although the MW client community newsletter dated 5 April 2004 did contain a brief general reference about the new maximum for tax free cash, it did not say that existing and historically certificated funds like his would be able to benefit retrospectively. There was also no indication that this information either superseded or contradicted the personal verbal and written advice which he had been given during the previous week and which he had already acted upon in good faith. He asserts that MW have failed to explain why they did not provide this information earlier and, in particular, during the  meeting on 25 March 2004. It was entirely reasonable for him therefore to infer that, had there been such a significant opportunity, then MW would have informed him about it during one of their previous review meetings.   
38. In his view, the MW newsletters which he received periodically, albeit personally addressed, are not mandatory reading or a substitute for personally specific consultancy advice.  

39. The decision not to activate SIPP drawdown prior to March 2004 was entirely his choice due to a sustained healthier than originally anticipated financial and tax position.

40. His decision to enter into SIPP drawdown was driven mainly by factors which he had explained to MW during the meeting on 25 March 2004 including:

a) The prospective future absence of any dividend income from his limited company or earned income from other sources.


b) His opinion (and also MW’s) that it was better to receive retirement benefits sooner rather than later and drawing maximum tax free cash from the outset was the only urgency.

c) Optimising his overall tax position for the current and future tax years and a desire, if possible, to routinely remain within the basic 20 % rate band.

He has asserted that the urgency to draw the maximum tax free cash mentioned in point (b) above arose from his anxiety to make decisions at the optimum time as per the advice given by MW. 

41. If MW had made a mistake by failing to advise him of the proposed new tax free cash rules, then they should have notified him personally of their error and suggested that it would be financially prudent for him to reconsider his SIPP drawdown activation decision and put his instructions to proceed on hold. 

42. He remunerates MW to fully inform him about all pension related matters including relevant future legislative changes and the potential consequences. He was therefore entitled to receive authoritative advice enabling him to make a well informed and sound choice. Their failure to do so constitutes, in his view, a breach of contract. Their failure to disclose the potential increased tax free cash led him to make an ill informed choice and suffer adverse financial consequences. 
43. He only became aware of his significant potential loss in November 2004 after reading an article in a financial magazine. 

44. Mr Lawton asserts that all the evidence consistently and overwhelmingly points to MW being fully responsible for the occurrence of the “horrible misunderstanding” which MW have formally acknowledged in their letter of 23 November 2004 to him. 

45. If he had been aware of the higher tax free cash available from 6 April 2006, he would have left his SIPP fund to continue growing at circa 5.25% pa with Yorkshire Guernsey until then, and not proceeded with SIPP drawdown in April 2004 with a fund value of £371,000 yielding approximately £42,000 in tax free cash. His SIPP fund would then have grown to circa £407,000 net of costs, and his tax free cash £101,750. Whilst acknowledging that the maximum pension which he may now draw had increased, all such income, however, would be taxed at 20% or 40%. Consequently, his future tax liability on the lost tax free cash, circa £60,000, would be in the region of £24,500, using a historical marginal tax rate of 29%, or £27,000 using an estimated marginal tax rate of 31%. Such a loss was one that he could ill afford at his time of life and one his commercial common sense would not allow. 

46. Mr Lawton says that he started to receive an annuity of £25,295 pa in monthly instalments from Scottish Equitable following his 60th birthday in December 2004 but did not draw any pension income from his SIPP until March 2005. He asserts that the tax free cash payment of circa £42,000 which he received in April 2004 from his SIPP together with the four monthly payments of £8,431 from his Scottish Equitable annuity up to March 2005 were more than sufficient for his personal expenditure needs during the 2004/05 financial tax year. He also asserts that his annuity payment from Scottish Equitable of £25,295 and SIPP income drawdown payment of £24,317 were more than sufficient for his personal expenditure needs during the 2005/06 financial tax year.
47. The potential for him to receive a higher income from his SIPP would, due to his uncontrollable income from other sources, increase his higher rate tax liability. As a consequence his overall marginal tax rate would increase beyond 31% and his prospective financial loss would also increase. He decided to draw the minimum pension from his SIPP (i.e. 35% of the maximum allowable pension) of £8,510 precisely for this reason (c.f. paragraph 68 below for more details). 
48. Mr Lawton acknowledges that he had premature use of his tax free cash and his SIPP income drawdown payment for two and one financial tax years respectively. He suggests that his loss amount should be adjusted by the interest which he would have accrued on these payments of £5,652 assuming an interest rate of 5.25% pa. 

49. He has continued to pay considerable fees to MW that, in his view, are not   justified by the poor service which he has received and feels that MW should reimburse him 50% of the fees which he has paid to date. 
50. MW have continued to make mistakes since he registered his complaint with them in November 2004, which he has offered as circumstantial corroborative evidence, e.g. a) MW only sent him one and not two circulars, as stated in their letter of 23 November 2004, in the previous two years referring to the 25% tax free cash facility, (i.e. the letter sent on 5 April 2004 to him).  
b) In January 2005, MW sent him an incorrect end of year valuation for his SIPP, undervaluing it by £28,000. This error was subsequently rectified, however. 

c) In June 2005, it was necessary for MW to resend him their most recent newsletter because they had sent him the previous issue by mistake.

All MW’s performance failures are clear evidence of routine maladministration resulting from a lack of attention to detail and procedures which appear inadequate and unreliable. For the most part such failures have been frustrating and annoying but not financially costly to him, so he has consequently been amenable to overlooking them. He maintains that MW’s failure to inform him about the potential tax free benefits is not “inconceivable” given their other service failures.   
51. Mr Lawton submits:

“I quite evidently chose to take benefits when I did because I relied on misinformation, incorrect advice and unfounded reassurance provided by my Pension Trustees and Administrators that it was prudent for me to do so. 

As my Pension Trustees and Administrators MW had an unquestionable responsibility and owed me an indisputable duty of care to accurately disclose all personally relevant information to me. For them to conveniently forget what they said and wrote and rely entirely on a subsequent routine general circular for their alibi is both disrespectful and unacceptable professional behaviour.”

52. Mr Lawton has requested an oral hearing should the information he has provided not be clear.

MW Submissions
53. The advice they gave Mr Lawton was given in good faith and based on the legislation effective when he was considering drawing benefits from his SIPP and not presumptions on how the Government may legislate in the future. 

54. In its consultations with Mr Lawton, it had been mutually agreed that his maximum tax free cash would be drawn. 

55. Prior to Mr Lawton drawing a lump sum from the SIPP, they had made him aware that there may be a change in legislation although this was likely to be more than 12 months away (and was not, in fact, enacted until 6 April 2006). 

56. Although they made him aware of what the potential issues were, at no point did they confirm that these proposals were set in stone.  
57. Mr Lawton could have decided not to take his benefits but chose to do so in accordance with the legislation at that time.

58. It would only have been with the benefit of hindsight that Mr Lawton could have known whether he would have been better or worse off as a result of legislation changes by deferring taking his tax free lump sum. His need to draw benefits drove his decision to elect to do so in April 2004. 

59. MW refute the allegation made by Mr Lawton that they have placed too much emphasis on his apparent desire to access his tax free lump sum in his e-mail of 20 November 2003. MW says that its interpretation of the e-mail was that Mr Lawton did not want the payment of his benefits to be delayed and all financial planning had therefore been geared towards the drawing of benefits in the spring of 2004. 
60. MW did not notify Mr Lawton of the potential opportunity to significantly increase his certified lump sump during the meeting in December 2003 because it had been arranged to discuss drawdown of benefits immediately and not at a later date.   

61. Mr Lawton had agreed during the meeting on 25 March 2004 to proceed with drawing benefits with immediate effect and this is confirmed in its letter of 29 March 2004.  
62. Mr Lawton had confirmed that the timing of drawing benefits from the SIPP related to his own personal tax position due to business interests rather than any promotion on their part of SIPP drawdown activation.

63. Although they did not have a detailed file note, it seemed inconceivable that they would not have discussed the proposed new maximum tax free cash limit with Mr Lawton at some stage during their various meetings, particularly as their other clients approaching retirement had been somewhat excited about this facility, having read about it in the press and their circulars. They assert that it was therefore unnecessary to raise the issue again when he notified them that he wanted to draw his benefits urgently because they thought he was well aware of the proposed change to access to the tax free cash.    
64. On 5 April 2004, they sent him two letters (which Mr Lawton says arrived on different days). In addition to the pensions simplification letter mentioning the new tax free cash rules, MW say that they also sent him a separate letter detailing the benefits available to him under the existing tax regime. MW assert that these letters would have given Mr Lawton a clear indication of the different bases of tax free cash in the existing and proposed new tax regimes. Although they had written to all the clients about pension simplification on a number of occasions, the tax free cash position was confirmed only in their letter of 5 April 2004 to Mr Lawton.
65. Mr Lawton’s decision to draw his tax free cash was only finalised on 21 April 2004 after signing his drawdown authority. He had not already acted on MW’s advice prior to this point. If he had a clear interest in optimising his tax free cash amount, MW cannot understand why he ignored their letter of 5 April 2004. As Mr Lawton is a Trustee of the SIPP, he should have been aware of all issues affecting his SIPP. In view of this, MW refute Mr Lawton’s assertion that he only first became aware of his significant potential loss in November 2004 and cannot agree that they are fully responsible for the “horrible misunderstanding”.

66. All correspondence including their newsletters are issued to clients on the basis that it concerns their pension affairs. 

67. If Mr Lawton had deferred SIPP drawdown he would have had to spend more of his other assets and some of the additional tax free cash would have simply replaced the monies that would otherwise have been spent. Over the longer term, Mr Lawton would have been entitled to a higher pension than would otherwise have been the case, the tax on which may not have been materially different to the additional tax on reinvestment of a higher tax fee lump sum.

68. The pension benefits drawn by Mr Lawton since April 2004 may be summarised as follows:

	Date
	Gross Amount

	17 March 2005
	£24,317.05

	29 March 2006
	£8,510.97

	29 March 2007
	£8,510.97


69. MW say that they made the first pension payment to Mr Lawton on 17 March 2005 following receipt of his e-mail dated 11 March 2005 stating that:

“Due to my circa £25K pa annuity from Scottish Equitable having only commenced 01/01/05, by the end of the current tax year I will have received four monthly pension payments making a gross total of circa £8,432. To enable me to make best use of my allowances and basic rate band for this tax year, I now wish to take the maximum income allowance for my pension year 2004/5 of £24,317.

In future tax years I will automatically receive £25,295 from Scottish Equitable and this will enable me to vary the value of the pension which I drawdown from my Trust fund to satisfy  my total income and tax liability objectives. Depending on my future overall financial requirements and attitude to investment risk, it will also enable me to satisfactorily address the potential fund sustainability and premature depletion risks (of my SIPP).”  

70. MW contend that as they are authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority, Mr Lawton’s complaint is outside my jurisdiction because it relates to advice that MW have provided in relation to the benefits that may be drawn from his SIPP.   
CONCLUSIONS

71. The Finance Act 2004, which embodies the measures for simplification of the pension tax regime and abolition of Inland Revenue limits, was given Royal Assent on 22 July 2004. It was therefore not until this Act had been enacted that the Government’s proposal to rationalise the various existing tax regimes for occupational and personal pension schemes from 6 April 2006 was ratified. At the time Mr Lawton decided to draw his SIPP benefits in March 2004, based on the personal advice received from MW, neither he nor they would therefore have known for sure that the new simplified tax regime (and thus availability of the new tax free cash amount) would definitely be introduced.

72. Nonetheless, it is clear from the evidence that both MW and Mr Lawton had started thinking about the impact of the new tax regime well before its introduction. Mr Lawton clearly had the changes on his agenda and was looking to MW to help him plan accordingly. Although the service which Mr Lawton received from MW could certainly have been better in some respects, it is evident that MW did attempt to explain some aspects of the proposed new tax regime to him and alert him to the possible implications, if implemented. They argue that they tried to ensure that their advice was appropriate to his personal financial circumstances.    

73. Mr Lawton has alleged, however, that, at no time prior to his decision to draw his SIPP benefits, did MW make any verbal or written reference to the prospective increased tax free cash and, as a consequence, he has been denied the opportunity of deferring his retirement until after 6 April 2006. Although the evidence submitted to me does confirm Mr Lawton’s assertion that there was no written reference to the prospective increased tax free cash, prior to receipt of MW’s general newsletter of 5 April 2004, I have also to consider whether, as they maintain, MW would have verbally mentioned one of the fundamental and simpler features of the proposed tax simplification changes to him at some stage during their numerous meetings, despite Mr Lawton’s protests to the contrary. 
74. There is evidence that Mr Lawton had expressed his eagerness to receive benefits from his SIPP fund on several occasions before eventually deciding formally to receive his tax free cash in April 2004, although income drawdown did not commence until some time later. Back in January 2001, shortly after his SIPP was established, Mr Lawton had already conveyed to MW, during their initial meeting, his desire to draw SIPP benefits sooner rather than later and MW had agreed with his preference. That said, it is evident from the fact that he did not in fact draw anything until 2004, that, despite that terminology, this was not something, at least at that time, of critical urgency. Equally, in February 2002, Mr Lawton had informed MW in writing that he would ideally like to be in a position to be able to access his tax free cash and draw his SIPP pension income at any time from 6 April 2002, although he did subsequently qualify this statement by saying that his decision to proceed would ultimately be subject to best advice from MW. If his financial and tax position had not been healthier than expected during 2001/02, there is a distinct possibility that he would have decided to receive his SIPP benefits then and received the maximum tax free cash calculated in accordance with the Inland Revenue rules applying at that time. 
75. However, in November 2003, Mr Lawton notified MW of the increasing urgency of the need to access his SIPP fund. Although Mr Lawton’s explanation of what he meant by this statement is certainly plausible, the impreciseness of his statement to MW, however, means that I cannot disregard the alternative logical interpretation, i.e. that he wished to draw his SIPP benefits as soon as possible. However, whilst he had previously used similar phraseology, this statement clearly casts some doubt on whether he would have waited until the introduction of the new tax regime on 6 April 2006 before doing so, even had he known of the proposed change to the tax free cash rules. Whatever else, it may not have been apparent to MW that a higher tax free cash sum was more important to Mr Lawton than the availability of an early pension.

76. I find it strange however that, notwithstanding the April 2004 Newsletter referring to it as a “key change”, and MW themselves saying that some of their clients were “excited” by the proposal, it was not mentioned as one of the “significant changes” in their letter of 29 March 2004. To my mind, that omission adds weight to the conclusion that it was not mentioned either at the meeting on 25 March 2004, or on any other occasion, and I so find as a matter of fact. Given that Mr Lawton had requested that the “implications of prospective pensions legislation” be on the agenda at the March meeting, and that MW themselves describe in their Newsletter the revision to the tax free cash rules as a “key change”, I find that MW’s failure to mention the increased tax free cash in their letter of 29 March 2004 amounts to maladministration.  

77. Accepting that the change to the tax free cash rules was not mentioned by MW verbally at any time before Mr Lawton made his decision, had the amount of tax free cash been so important to him, the letter which he received from MW dated 5 April 2004 might perhaps have been expected  to alert him to the fact that the maximum tax free cash rules might change and have prompted him to pursue further.     

78. Mr Lawton has brought to my attention a number of mistakes on MW’s part in support of his complaint. Mr Lawton is suggesting that, because MW’s service was not to the expected standard in other areas then it is not “inconceivable” that they made a mistake in omitting to tell him about the tax free cash issue. These references are circumstantial evidence with no bearing on his specific complaint and only show that there was room for improvement in the service provided by MW generally. However, I have already concluded above that MW did indeed fail to draw to Mr Lawton’s attention adequately the changes to the tax free cash rules for him to make an informed decision.   
79. Although I am persuaded that MW were at fault in not doing more to draw the change to Mr Lawton’s attention, a comparison between taking drawdown earlier, with a lower tax free cash sum, and later with a higher amount, is not straightforward. This makes it particularly difficult to form a view as to whether, more likely than not, Mr Lawton would have decided to defer had he been told of the changes. 
80. Mr Lawton can readily quantify his likely future tax liability on the lost tax free cash of approximately £60,000 to be in the region of £24,500, using a historical marginal tax rate of 29%, or £27,000 using a marginal rate of 31%. But, as MW point out, Mr Lawton would in the meantime have had to utilise his other financial resources, which may well have taxation implications, and would have eventually drawn a higher pension than would otherwise have been the case. In addition, there could presumably have been potential taxation implications with a higher lump sum to invest. 

81. For me to ask MW to make good any loss, I would have to conclude not only, as I have, that MW acted with maladministration in not doing anything specifically to advise Mr Lawton of the possible change in two years’ time, but also that he would, more likely than not, have deferred taking his SIPP benefits until after 5 April 2006. It is always difficult to say with any degree of certainty what might or might not have happened in such circumstances: there are clearly a number of competing factors.

82. There is no doubt that Mr Lawton had on occasions indicated that he wished to access his SIPP fund early. MW did go some way to speculate about the new rules including mentioning the tax free cash change, although they might have done so more prominently. However, weighing the various considerations in the balance, would Mr Lawton, more likely than not, have waited two years before activating SIPP drawdown in order to then receive the higher tax free cash sum?

83. There can be no doubt that the prospect of a tax free lump sum around £60,000 greater would have proved attractive, at least superficially, and I would have expected MW to have been able to advise Mr Lawton on the overall position and the implications of deferral, to benefit from the change. I note that MW had throughout emphasised the advantages of maximising the tax free lump sum facility. I note also that, just a few months’ later, when he did find out about the proposed change, Mr Lawton immediately sought to reverse his decision, which I find compelling evidence in support of his assertion that he would have deferred in the first instance if properly advised. I find therefore, on the balance of probabilities that, had MW not omitted adequately to draw his attention to the change, Mr Lawton would have decided to defer drawing his pension until after April 2006. 

84. As to the calculation of the financial injustice Mr Lawton has suffered, it is clearly not simply the tax on the lost £60,000 tax free lump sum. Against that has to be set the fact that Mr Lawton has benefited from drawing his pension, and that, had he deferred, his pension, albeit taxable, would have been greater. I also have to take into account that Mr Lawton might well have incurred some tax liability on any additional investment income generated and that he would have had to eat into his other resources in the meantime.

85. Mr Lawton has suggested that a deduction of £5,652 be made from his loss of £24,500 using a historical marginal tax rate of 29% for 2004 to 2007 or £27,000 using an estimated marginal tax rate of 31% for 2004 to 2006. I have noted, however, that in his calculations he has not taken into account other eventualities which could potentially affect any calculation of his loss, for example:
  

· The potential to receive a higher income from his pension fund, had he deferred, and the additional tax liability attaching to that income;

· Additional, virtually tax free, growth in his fund for the period of deferment;

· Potentially higher investment returns from investing a larger lump sum;
It is clearly difficult to specify with any degree of accuracy the exact amount of Mr Lawton’s loss, since this is dependent on a number of variable factors, most of which are unknown. Mr Lawton’s own calculations do not, it seems to me, fully allow for the factors that might have reduced his loss. In the interests of reaching a swift and pragmatic conclusion to this matter, I am recommending that a payment is made to Mr Lawton, in recognition of the maladministration that I have identified, of a proportion of the loss as calculated by him, and I consider 50% of the higher loss calculated by Mr Lawton  to be reasonable. This amounts to. £13,500 and I make an appropriate direction below. [I note that Mr Lawton has struggled for some time to resolve this matter which has clearly caused considerable inconvenience and distress and, in recognition of that, I will round the payment up to £14,000]  
86. Mr Lawton has requested an oral hearing. Given my conclusions there is clearly no need to hold a hearing.

87. MW have suggested that I do not have power to investigate Mr Lawton’s complaint because of MW’s role in relation to Mr Lawton’s SIPP.  MW are a trustee of the SIPP and as such fall within my jurisdiction under Section 146(1)(a) of the Pension Schemes Act 1993 which allows me to consider complaints against “a person responsible for the management of the Scheme.” Persons who are considered to be responsible for the management of a Scheme include, at Section 146(3)(a), “the trustees”. I therefore have jurisdiction to determine the matter.

DIRECTIONS
88. Within 28 days of this determination, Mattioli Woods shall pay Mr Lawton £14,000, as redress for the financial loss and distress and inconvenience caused as a result of the maladministration identified.   
CHARLIE GORDON

Deputy Pensions Ombudsman

25 October 2007

APPENDIX

Simplifying the Taxation of Pensions: Increasing Choice and Flexibility for All (2002)

Foreword

This Government is committed to enabling all pensioners to share fairly in the rising prosperity of the nation to tackle poverty among older people, and to provide security, dignity and comfort for people in their old age. Key to this is enabling people to plan effectively for their retirement.

So in this document we are setting out proposals for a radical simplification of the tax rules for pensions, sweeping away the existing pension tax regimes, and replacing them with a single lifetime limit on the amount of pension saving that can benefit from tax relief.

5 Simplifying Pensions in Payment

The new tax rules for pensions will also apply the same principles of flexibility, transparency and consistency to how pension benefits can be drawn…..

5.1 Just as there will be a single consistent set of tax rules about saving for pensions, there will also be a single consistent set of tax rules about how benefits can be drawn from matured pension savings…...    

Retirement lump sums

5.6 The reformed tax treatment of pensions will therefore keep the opportunity to take a tax free lump sum. As now, if scheme rules allow it, people will be able to choose whether to take all their pension benefits as income or to take part as a lump sum of up to 25% of the value of the pension fund. For someone whose matured pension savings are less than the lifetime limit – over 99 per cent of people – this lump sum will be tax free.

5.7 In practice this will mean that many people in occupational schemes will be able to draw larger tax free lump sums than now from their matured pension funds if their scheme will allow it. Any existing rights to larger tax free lump sums than the new rules would allow will be respected if they have been built up before the date of implementation. Annex B goes into more detail about how these rights will work.     

B

Technical Details

B1 This document sets out the direction which the Government proposes to take in reforming and simplifying taxation of pensions. It does not offer a complete blueprint for change. Only when the shape of the reformed scheme for the taxation of pensions is clear will it make sense to set out the full proposals, with draft legislation.

B2 Nevertheless, there are some details worth exploring at this stage. The Annex identifies some of the main issues which the next round of consultation will cover in greater depth. It does not pretend to offer a full specification of the proposed reform….

Protecting lump sums

B18 It will clearly be important that people’s existing rights to tax free lump sums build up before A-day are respected. The existing tax rules apply several different sets of limits to what pension schemes rules may allow to be paid in this form…..

B19 Setting comprehensive rules to protect every detail of these limits would be complex. Instead the Government proposes to allow the tax free cash sum to be the higher of:

· 25 per cent of the person’s total pension rights both pre and post A-day; or

· an exact valuation of pre A-day lump sum rights, which would have to be carried out within three years of A-day, and indexed; or

· 3/80 for each year of service up to A-day multiplied by salary in the tax year to A-day, subject to the relevant limits in the tax regime governing the person’s existing pension rights, and indexed.

B21 For many people in occupational schemes this would mean that, if their pension scheme allows it, they could get a bigger tax free cash sum when they draw their pension benefits…….     

Simplifying the Taxation of Pensions: The Government’s Proposals (2003)

Introduction

The Government set out its proposals for radical pensions simplification last December in Simplifying the taxation of pensions: increasing choice and flexibility for all.  

This second consultation document sets out how the simplified regime would work if introduced, and proposes a number of modifications following the consultation……...

The Government has always wanted to proceed by consensus.

However, the consultation so far has revealed contrasting views. Many people have expressed support for the proposed simplified regime and the significant benefits that arise…….

Others have argued that there is no reason to change the existing regimes…….  

Chapter1   The Simplified Pensions Regime

The new simple regime

1.1. Simplifying the taxation of pensions: increasing choice and flexibility for all set out the Government’s aim to introduce a simple and transparent tax regime for pensions. Removing the existing plethora of controls would make pensions easier to understand and cheaper to operate, which should benefit everyone. The key benefits of the simplified pensions regime, if it is introduced, would be that:

……………………

· all occupational schemes will be able to pay a lump sum of up to 25 per cent of the value of the benefits
· the maximum permissible tax free lump sum for all those earning more than £100,000 a year in the 1987 and 1989 occupational regimes rises from £150,000 to £350,000 
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